

The European Pet Food Industry

FEDIAF Scientific Advisory Board Carbohydrate Expert Review

September 2019

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

Definition	4
Structure of carbohydrates	4
Sugars	5
Oligosaccharides	5
Polysaccharides	5
Analytical, functional and nutritional classification of carbohydrates	6
Carbohydrate analysis: chemical vs. enzymatic	6
Carbohydrate functional and nutritional classification	6
Sources of carbohydrates	7
Labelling of carbohydrates in pet food	8
Can dogs digest cooked starch?	8
How about cats?	8
What about low-starch diets?	9
References	

### Disclaimer:

This document is an expert review by the FEDIAF's Scientific Advisory Board. It is written in English and only the English version is official. The information contained in this document may be translated into other languages, but the Scientific Advisory Board and FEDIAF shall not be responsible for any errors or omissions contained in the translations.

Photo credit:

Cover: iStock / yulka3ice

# DEFINITION

Carbohydrates are one of the three categories of macronutrients (along with proteins and fats) in the diet of animals. They are molecules made from just three elements: carbon, hydrogen and oxygen. They are a main source of energy and provide fibre, which can be beneficial for gastrointestinal health. The basic form of carbohydrates is the monosaccharide. Carbohydrates include mono-, di-, oligo- and polysaccharides. The way the monomers are linked ( $\alpha$ - or  $\beta$ -type bonds) has important implications on their nutritional or functional roles.

# STRUCTURE OF CARBOHYDRATES

The smallest and simplest forms of carbohydrates are sugars (monosaccharides and disaccharides). The larger carbohydrate molecules include oligosaccharides and polysaccharides.



### Sugars

### Monosaccharides

The basic and typical form of carbohydrate is that of glucose  $(C_6H_{12}O_6)$ . Other examples of monosaccharides include fructose (also known as fruit sugar) and galactose (a component of lactose).

#### Disaccharides

In nature most available sugars are disaccharides, which are made of two monosaccharides that are joined together. Examples include sucrose (table sugar, one molecule of glucose linked to one of fructose), lactose (milk sugar, glucose-galactose) and maltose (glucose-glucose).

## Oligosaccharides

Oligosaccharides are oligomers composed of 3 to 9 monosaccharides, often linked by  $\beta$ -type bounds. Examples are fructooligosaccharides, which are obtained

from hydrolysis of inulin, and stachyose (fructose- $[galactose]_2$ -glucose), which is one of the oligosaccharides found in many legumes.

### Polysaccharides

Most polysaccharides are of plant origin but animal tissues may contain small amounts of glycogen.

#### Starches

Starches are long, linear (amylose) or branched (amylopectin), chains of glucose molecules linked by  $\alpha$ -type glycosidic bonds. Starch is produced in plants for intracellular energy storage. Depending on the chain length and the degree of branching, there is a wide variety of natural starches that are stored as semi-crystalline granules. Their form also varies in size and shape between plant organs, and between plant species.

*People often use incorrectly the terms 'Carbohydrates'/* 'Carbs' when they are referring to starches.

#### Inulin

Many plants store energy in the form of inulin rather than starch. Inulins are linear polysaccharides mainly composed of fructose molecules (up to several thousand), and typically have a terminal glucose. In inulins the fructose monomers are linked by  $\beta$ -type glycosidic bonds.

#### Gums and mucilages

Gums that readily dissolve in water and mucilages that form gels are additional groups of complex plant carbohydrate polymers.

#### Plant cell-wall polysaccharides

Other plant polysaccharides, often called non-starch polysaccharides, are constituents of the cell wall: celluloses, hemicelluloses, beta-glucans and pectins. While cellulose is a linear polymer of only glucose units, hemicelluloses are branched and contain many different monosaccharides. Beta-glucans comprise a group of glucose polysaccharides occurring (with hemicelluloses) in the cell walls of cereals. Lignins are also part of the cell wall, although they are phenolic polymers rather than polysaccharides. In all cell walls, the constitutive monosacharides of the polysaccharides (except pectins), are linked by  $\beta$ -type glycosidic bonds.

#### Glycogen

Glycogen is the analogue of starch as it functions as energy storage in animal tissues, mainly the liver and the muscles. Glycogen is made of glucose units and has a branched structure similar to that of amylopectin. As in starch, glucose monomers are linked by  $\alpha$ -type glycosidic bonds.

### Carbohydrate analysis: chemical vs. enzymatic

In the 1860's, Henneberg and Stohmann developed the proximate analysis system for feeds.<sup>1</sup> They introduced a chemical-gravimetric method with weak acid and alkali digestions. It was in Weende (Germany), and the method intended to discriminate digestible (intracellular carbohydrates) and undigestible (cell wall carbohydrates) in monogastric animal feeds. The supposedly undigestible fraction was then called 'crude fibre', and the supposedly digestible one, as calculated by difference, is known as 'nitrogen-free extract', which is not a very accurate name. Moreover, it has been known for a long time that the 'crude fibre' residue underestimates (up to four times) the cell wall polysaccharide content of the foods and feeds. This inaccuracy is more likely in non-herbivore monogastrics than in herbivores. The reason for the discrepancy is

that part, and unfortunately an inconsistent part, of the hemicelluloses and lignins are solubilized during the Weende analytical process.

Many improvements have been suggested over time but they never dealt with the initial limitations of the Weende method. In the 1960's, the detergent methods led to considerable improvement in the fibre content determination and thus in the prediction of the feed value. From the late 1970's, enzymatic-gravimetric methods have become the gold standard for the measurement of (total) dietary fibre (TDF). These methods are based on the action of an enzyme mix that mimics intestinal digestion by pancreatic enzymes. Moreover, they also distinguish soluble from insoluble fibre fractions.

## Carbohydrate functional and nutritional classification

#### Carbohydrates as energy source

Glucose is the most important source of energy in animal cells, and the major one for some tissues like the brain. The body obtains glucose from sugars or polysaccharides (starch) from the diet, from endogenous stores (glycogen), or by endogenous synthesis (gluconeogenesis, especially from amino acids).

Starches are the main carbohydrate included in pet foods. Cats and dogs have intestinal (saccharase, etc.) and pancreatic (amylase) enzymes which cleave disaccharides and the  $\alpha$ -type glycosidic bonds, respectively. Adult dogs and cats have very low lactase activity and therefore cannot properly digest lactose. Overall, dogs and cats can utilize sugars and dietary  $\alpha$ -polysaccharides, such as glycogen and starch, provided it has been cooked. Monosaccharides are absorbed and with some differences between dogs and cats (See below 'How about cats?'), become available for energy metabolism and storage. Dietary digestible carbohydrates provide approximately 3.5 to 4 kcal metabolizable energy (ME) per gram.

In both the cat and dog salivary amylase activity is absent. Pancreatic amylase activity in the intestinal chyme of the cat is lower than in the dog.<sup>2</sup> Cooked starch is highly digestible in the total digestive tract of both dogs (starch digestibility  $\approx 100$  per cent)<sup>3,4</sup> and cats (starch digestibility  $\geq 94$  per cent with an intake  $\approx 6g \cdot kg$  of BW<sup>-1</sup>·d<sup>-1</sup>).<sup>5</sup>

Nevertheless, the relative contributions of enzymatic digestion in the small intestine and fermentation in the hindgut may vary widely depending on the starch source and processing. Indeed, digestion and absorption can be rapidly processed, although due to structural reasons, not all starches or starch fractions are digested at the same speed. When starch is not digested, it is called 'resistant starch'. Resistant starch reaches the colon, where it can be fermented by the microbiota. For any particular food the importance of the 'resistant' fraction may vary among animal species, depending on intestinal length and transit time. Usually, cooking of starch (especially extrusion) dramatically enhances the rapidly digested fraction of starch and lowers the resistant one. This has notably been shown in cats, in which cooked maize starch was nearly

fully digested. Preceacal digestibility in the small intestine was nearly 70 per cent, with around 30 per cent of the starch fermented in the colon.<sup>6</sup> In the same experiment, preceacal digestibility of raw maize starch was around 45%, and the overall digestibility was about 70%.<sup>6</sup>

N.B. If digestibility and availability only refer to what occurs in the small intestine, 'digestible carbohydrates', 'available carbohydrates' and 'glycaemic carbohydrates' are more or less equivalent terms to name carbohydrates that are sources of glucose and energy.

### **Dietary fibre**

Non-digestible ('unavailable', 'non-glycaemic') carbohydrates are often referred to as 'dietary fibre'. This is a heterogeneous group of substances defined as polysaccharides (10 or more monomeric units) which are not hydrolysed by the endogenous enzymes in the small intestine of monogastric animals. Dietary fibre usually includes the edible carbohydrate polymers naturally occurring in food, including plant cell wall polysaccharides, lignins, inulin, gums and mucilages. Digestion-resistant oligosaccharides are also considered dietary fibre.

Dietary fibres are usually classified according to their fermentability (rapidly fermentable, slowly fermentable or non-fermentable) or their solubility (soluble vs. insoluble). These attributes are not necessarily correlated, although soluble fibres tend to be more fermentable. Other important fibre characteristics include water holding capacity, bulking and viscosity. All these characteristics modify the effects of dietary fibre in dogs and cats.

Like other monogastric animals, cats and dogs lack enzymes to break down  $\beta$ -glycosidic bonds. Only microorganisms produce the  $\beta$ -glycosidases that allow, in the colon, the hydrolysis of the  $\beta$ -type polysaccharides. This is the first step of a fermentative process, which

## Sources of carbohydrates

The main sources of starch are cereals and also root vegetables and legumes. These ingredients also provide fibre. Soluble fibre can be found in different quantities in cereals, fruits and vegetables, while insoluble fibre can be found in high concentration in whole grains and fruit skin. Fibre can also be provided by purified fibre sources like cellulose or psyllium husk. is the way the microorganisms obtain energy from available substrates. Short chain fatty acids are among the fermentation end-products. These can be absorbed in the colon and provide some energy to the dog or cat, but with a relatively low efficiency compared to glucose. Colonic fermentation is a slower process than small intestine digestion and, therefore, not all potentially fermentable substrates are completely fermented due to the relatively short residence time in the colon. Fermented carbohydrates (either  $\beta$ -type polysaccharides, oligosaccharides or resistant starch) provide between 1 and 2 kcal/g (kcal ME)<sup>7</sup>; this is considered negligible in dogs and cats.

Depending on its solubility and fermentability, dietary fibre can have health benefits for dogs and cats related to intestinal health and satiety. Soluble fibres, which dissolve in water, can in some cases increase viscosity in the gastrointestinal tract. This would delay gastric emptying and modify the postprandial glycaemic response. Some sources can be fermented in the colon, which results in increasing production of short chain fatty acids. Some oligosaccharides in the soluble fibre have prebiotic effects as they specifically induce growth and activity of beneficial microorganisms (such as *Bifidobacteria*).

Insoluble fibres, which do not dissolve in water, can be metabolically inert, although a small fraction may be slowly fermented in the large intestine. Their low density and high porosity combined with their water holding capacity result in higher faecal bulk. This can result in easier defecation and improved faecal consistency. Insoluble fibre is not usually a source of energy for cats and dogs and, therefore does not contribute to weight gain. That is why it is used in specially formulated weight management diets to provide bulk and potentially improve satiety.

## Labelling of carbohydrates in pet food

According to the EU law the following nutrients (provided as percentages, i.e. grams of nutrient per 100 grams of food) must be declared under Analytical Constituents of cat and dog food:

- Protein (or Crude protein)
- Fat content (or Crude oils and fats)
- Crude fibre
- Crude ash (or Incinerated residue, or Inorganic matter)
- Moisture content (not mandatory for dry foods; if not listed on standard pet food the moisture content is below 14%)

There is no measure of digestible carbohydrates (sugars and starch) reported on the label. In order to obtain an estimation of digestible carbohydrates in pet food (mainly starch), it can be calculated by difference. This estimation is called 'nitrogen-free extract' (NFE).

 % NFE = 100 - (Crude protein + Crude fat + Crude fibre + Ash + Moisture)

## Can dogs digest cooked starch?

Crude fibre analysis largely underestimates the actual content of dietary fibre and does not provide any information regarding physicochemical or biological properties. As a consequence, NFE usually overestimates the content of digestible carbohydrates.

Therefore 'crude fibre' does not provide accurate information concerning the functional and nutritional properties of carbohydrates. Since pet foods usually contain only very few (if any) sugars, it would be preferable to determine the starch content, which is easy to do, and calculate the dietary fibre content (non-starch polysaccharides) by difference.

It is also possible to determine the dietary fibre content and calculate starch by difference. Nevertheless, the reported fibre content can vary depending on the definition and/or the method used to quantify it.<sup>8</sup>

Despite the perception held by some that dogs should eat the same food as wolves, studies have shown that dog can digest cooked starch. A genome study of dogs and wolves showed that dogs have higher number of copies of genes enabling them to digest cooked starch.<sup>9</sup> The study looked into genomes of 14 different breeds of dogs and compared them to genomes of wolves and indicated that dogs have an increased ability to digest starches and break them down into sugars as available source of energy. This evolutionary change has occurred in the past 10,000 years of humans farming crops and domesticating dogs, resulting in both humans<sup>10</sup> and dogs being able to increase starch consumption. Nevertheless, differences have been shown among dogs regarding their responsiveness to resistant starch (which had been determined in vitro, by 'resistance' to digestion by pancreatic  $\alpha$ -amylase and amyloglucosidase).<sup>11</sup> This could reflect differences in the ability to digest carbohydrates that could result from differences in the evolutionary process due to differences in dietary pressure. Indeed it has been shown that the number of copies of the gene coding for pancreatic amylase is less in Arctic and Australian dogs, which evolved in areas where agriculture developed later.<sup>12</sup> Nearly 70 per cent of the variation in the gene copy number would depend only the breed, the remaining depends on individuals. Indeed, within one breed it could vary between 2 and 10, and in another one between 12 and 21.<sup>12,13</sup>

### How about cats?

Cats are strict carnivores and, in their natural habitat, as solitary hunters, they consume small prey. They have evolved on a diet that is high in protein, with moderate amounts of fat and little carbohydrate.

Neither cats nor dogs have an absolute requirement for carbohydrates; they need glucose but as carnivores are

able to synthesize glucose de novo, from amino acids. Cats are nevertheless able to utilize carbohydrates as an energy source, as long as the carbohydrates are properly processed.<sup>5</sup> They have pancreatic amylase and, even if the activity of amylase is rather moderate compared to other species, cats can accommodate diets with varying amounts of carbohydrates, including starch, with a reported apparent total tract digestibility between 94 per cent and 100 per cent<sup>5,14</sup> in diets containing 35% of starch ingredients. Cats are carnivorous, and their natural diet is mainly composed of protein and fat as energy sources. Endogenous de novo glucose synthesis (gluconeogenesis) from amino acids is very active. The activities of ratelimiting enzymes of gluconeogenesis are higher in cats than in dogs.<sup>15</sup> Cats lack hepatic glucokinase, the enzyme which is responsible for glucose uptake in case of increased blood glucose. Nevertheless, cats can use glucose as they have hexokinase.

While cats, similarly to dogs, do not have a requirement for starch and carbohydrates they are able to utilize them as an energy source as long as they are adequately processed and present in moderate amounts.

It has been suggested that high dietary carbohydrate levels could alter energy metabolism and reduce insulin sensitivity<sup>16</sup> but this has not been confirmed. Many studies have been conducted regarding the impact of dietary carbohydrates on biomarkers for disease risk and they have not found a clear association of carbohydrate intake

with diabetes mellitus risk in cats. Diet can increase the risk of this disease mainly due to its association with obesity rather than to its nutritional composition.<sup>17,18</sup>

Epidemiological studies found that dry foods (which likely contain more carbohydrates than wet ones, and also can have increased energy density) do not affect diabetes risk<sup>19</sup>, or are associated with a reduced risk<sup>20</sup>; however, one study found that dry diets were associated with a higher risk of diabetes in lean but not fat cats.<sup>21</sup> This would warrant further research, especially regarding the specific effect of the carbohydrate content which greatly varies in dry foods (from 10% to more than 40% of the energy, i.e. from 20 to 50% of dry matter). The amount and/or the ingredient source may affect metabolic responses.<sup>22</sup>

Based on currently published evidence, it appears that a sedentary lifestyle, living indoors, neutering, and consuming foods that are high in fat and energy have all been identified as risk factors for obesity rather than the carbohydrate content of the diet.

### What about low-starch diets?

Starch is overall higher in dry diets compared to moist diets, due to its importance in the extrusion process. However, some moist foods can have starch contents comparable to dry foods. Why is it included, if it is not an essential nutrient? The main reason is that starch is an available source of energy; it may typically represent 40-50% of energy in dog dry diets, and 15-40% in those for cats.

Reducing the starch diets content requires increasing dietary protein or fat (or both) to provide energy. Highprotein and/or high-fat diets can be complete and balanced. They may be well tolerated in some pets, but their generalized use as maintenance diets for healthy animals is questionable. Indeed, high-fat diets are known to predispose to overweight, at least in neutered animals, as it has been shown in cats.<sup>23,24</sup> High fat diets also induce a lower degree of satiety. The use of high protein diets has ethical, economic and environmental concerns, considering that especially animal protein is a scarce resource and high protein intake results in increased nitrogen excretion.

#### For other pet food and nutrition topics please visit www.fediaf.org

## References

- 1. Henneberg W, Stohmann F. Über das Erhaltungsfutter volljährigen Rindviehs. J. Landwirtsch. 1859;3:485-551.
- Kienzle E. Carbohydrate metabolism of the cat 1. Activity of amylase in the gastrointestinal tract of the cat 1. Journal of Animal Physiology and Animal Nutrition. 1993 Jan 8;69(1-5):92-101.
- Murray SM, Fahey Jr GC, Merchen NR, Sunvold GD, Reinhart GA. Evaluation of selected high-starch flours as ingredients in canine diets. Journal of animal science. 1999 Aug 1;77(8):2180-6.
- Carciofi AC, Takakura FS, De-Oliveira LD, Teshima
  E, Jeremias JT, Brunetto MA, Prada F. Effects of six
  carbohydrate sources on dog diet digestibility and postprandial glucose and insulin response. Journal of Animal
   Physiology and Animal Nutrition. 2008 Jun;92(3):326-36.
- De-Oliveira LD, Carciofi AC, Oliveira MC, Vasconcellos RS, Bazolli RS, Pereira GT, Prada F. Effects of six carbohydrate sources on diet digestibility and postprandial glucose and insulin responses in cats. Journal of Animal Science. 2008 Sep 1;86(9):2237-46.
- Kienzle E. Carbohydrate metabolism of the cat 2. Digestion of starch 1. Journal of Animal Physiology and Animal Nutrition. 1993 Jan 8;69(1-5):102-14.
- Livesey G. The energy values of dietary fibre and sugar alcohols for man. Nutrition Research Reviews. 1992 Jan;5(1):61-84.
- Dietary Fibre. https://ec.europa.eu/jrc/en/healthknowledge-gateway/promotion-prevention/nutrition/ fibre#\_Tocch2 2018.
- Axelsson E, Ratnakumar A, Arendt ML, Maqbool K, Webster MT, Perloski M, Liberg O, Arnemo JM, Hedhammar Å, Lindblad-Toh K. The genomic signature of dog domestication reveals adaptation to a starch-rich diet. Nature. 2013 Mar;495(7441):360.
- Perry GH, Dominy NJ, Claw KG, Lee AS, Fiegler H, Redon R, Werner J, Villanea FA, Mountain JL, Misra R, Carter NP. Diet and the evolution of human amylase gene copy number variation. Nature genetics. 2007 Oct;39(10):1256.
- Goudez R, Weber M, Biourge V, Nguyen P. Influence of different levels and sources of resistant starch on faecal quality of dogs of various body sizes. British Journal of Nutrition. 2011 Oct;106(S1):S211-5.
- Arendt M, Cairns KM, Ballard JW, Savolainen P, Axelsson
  E. Diet adaptation in dog reflects spread of prehistoric agriculture. Heredity. 2016 Nov;117(5):301.
- 13. Arendt M, Fall T, Lindblad-Toh K, Axelsson E. Amylase activity is associated with AMY 2B copy numbers in dog:

implications for dog domestication, diet and diabetes. Animal genetics. 2014 Oct;45(5):716-22.

- Morris JG, Trudell J, Pencovic T. Carbohydrate digestion by the domestic cat (Felis catus). British journal of nutrition. 1977 May;37(3):365-73.
- 15. Washizu T, Tanaka A, Sako T, Washizu M, Arai T. Comparison of the activities of enzymes related to glycolysis and gluconeogenesis in the liver of dogs and cats. Research in veterinary science. 1999 Oct 1;67(2):205-6.
- Farrow HA, Rand JS, Morton JM, O'Leary CA, Sunvold GD. Effect of dietary carbohydrate, fat, and protein on postprandial glycemia and energy intake in cats. Journal of veterinary internal medicine. 2013 Sep;27(5):1121-35.
- Hoenig M. Carbohydrate metabolism and pathogenesis of diabetes mellitus in dogs and cats. Progress in molecular biology and translational science 2014 Jan; 121(1):377-412. Academic Press.
- Verbrugghe A, Hesta M. Cats and carbohydrates: the carnivore fantasy?. Veterinary sciences. 2017 Dec;4(4):55.
- Slingerland LI, Fazilova VV, Plantinga EA, Kooistra HS, Beynen AC. Indoor confinement and physical inactivity rather than the proportion of dry food are risk factors in the development of feline type 2 diabetes mellitus. The Veterinary Journal. 2009 Feb 1;179(2):247-53.
- 20. Sallander M, Eliasson J, Hedhammar Å. Prevalence and risk factors for the development of diabetes mellitus in Swedish cats. Acta Veterinaria Scandinavica. 2012 Dec;54(1):61.
- Öhlund M, Egenvall A, Fall T, Hansson-Hamlin H, Röcklinsberg H, Holst BS. Environmental risk factors for diabetes mellitus in cats. Journal of veterinary internal medicine. 2017 Jan;31(1):29-35.
- 22. Hewson-Hughes AK, Gilham MS, Upton S, Colyer A, Butterwick R, Miller AT. The effect of dietary starch level on postprandial glucose and insulin concentrations in cats and dogs. British Journal of Nutrition. 2011 Oct;106(S1):S105-9.
- Nguyen PG, Dumon HJ, Siliart BS, Martin LJ, Sergheraert R, Biourge VC. Effects of dietary fat and energy on body weight and composition after gonadectomy in cats. American journal of veterinary research. 2004 Dec 1;65(12):1708-13.
- 24. Backus RC, Cave NJ, Keisler DH. Gonadectomy and high dietary fat but not high dietary carbohydrate induce gains in body weight and fat of domestic cats. British Journal of Nutrition. 2007 Sep;98(3):641-50.



### FEDIAF

Avenue Louise 89 B-1050 Bruxelles +32 (2) 536 05 20 fediaf@fediaf.org www.fediaf.org